IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No. 84,329

#### KINNEY SYSTEM, INC.,

PETITIONER,

v.

THE CONTINENTAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

RESPONDENT.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER KINNEY SYSTEM, INC.

On Review of a Certified Question of Great Public Importance from the Fourth District Court of Appeal

> Arthur J. England, Jr., Esq. Florida Bar No. 022730 Charles M. Auslander, Esq. Florida Bar No. 349747 Greenberg, Traurig, Hoffman, Lipoff, Rosen & Quentel, P.A. 1221 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone: (305) 579-0500

Counsel for Kinney System, Inc.

####

#### INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Kinney System, Inc. ("Kinney"), is a foreign corporation doing business in Florida. Kinney was sued by Respondent Continental Insurance Company ("Continental"), also a foreign corporation doing business in Florida. Kinney's motion to dismiss on the footing of common law *forum non conveniens* was granted by the trial court, which recognized wisdom in the more flexible application of the doctrine authorized by precedent of the Third District Court of Appeal.

A panel of the Fourth District recognized its obligation to adhere to the moribund precedent of that district, from which it could not retrench, and the further disability to *en banc* the matter, given that inter-district conflict is manifest, but intra-district conflict wanting. The Fourth District treated this systemic inconvenience sensibly, by certifying a question of great public importance:

Is a trial court precluded from dismissing an action on the basis of forum non conveniens where one of the parties is a foreign corporation that:

- (a) is doing business in Florida?
- (b) is registered to do business in Florida?

(c) has its principal place of business in Florida? Continental Ins. Co. v. Kinney System, Inc., 641 So. 2d 195 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994). The fact of certification by the Fourth District reflects the panel's recognition that its decision was supported by nothing other than district stare decisis, without support by the Third District, other Florida courts, or decisions in other jurisdictions.

The Third District's reasoning that a corporation's principal place of business is the basis for residency provided a principled basis for the circuit court's decision to dismiss Continental's action so that it could be pursued in New York. This case involves a dispute regarding calculation of an additional premium over and above those considerable premiums paid by Kinney, which Continental claims to be owed.

Kinney routinely handles billing issues from its corporate headquarters in New York, and this matter was no exception. Continental's central operations are housed in New Jersey, and the insurance agreements at issue were framed in the New York metropolitan area. When negotiations in that vicinity between the parties' corporate executives and counsel did not resolve the dispute, Continental filed suit in Florida.

The circuit court's decision to dismiss the suit as inappropriately brought in Florida was a pragmatic exercise of the doctrine of *forum non conveniens*. Contemporary decisions, including those of the Third District, have reasoned that *forum non conveniens* is an important tool for the judiciary in protecting congested dockets from suits more appropriately brought elsewhere. Fourth District precedent would deny application of the doctrine whenever a foreign corporation is merely doing business in Florida, a resolution which handcuffs the opportunity to apply the doctrine flexibly to a host of cases.

The definition of corporate residency should be equated with principal place of business, and not merely doing business or

being registered to do business, concepts comporting typically to jurisdictional analysis of minimum contacts and due process. The certified question is one of magnified importance in Florida, given adherence to the proposition that *forum non conveniens* does not apply when either party is a resident of Florida.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Continental brought suit against Kinney for breach of contract. (R. 1-51). Kinney moved to dismiss the complaint on grounds of forum non conveniens. (R. 52-55). After conducting a hearing, and reviewing affidavits of both parties on the subject, the circuit court granted Kinney's motion and dismissed the action. (R. 124). Continental appealed. (R. 125-26).

The Fourth District reversed, finding itself and the circuit court bound by decisions of that district equating the mere doing of corporate business with residency, hence precluding consideration of forum non conveniens. Continental Ins. Co. v. Kinney System, Inc., 641 So. 2d 195, 196-197 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994).

The decision of the district court acknowledged conflicting precedent of the Third District, and that Florida's is the minority view in suspending the doctrine when any party is a Florida resident. *Id*. The court certified a question of great public importance:

Is a trial court precluded from dismissing an action on the basis of forum non conveniens where one of the parties is a foreign corporation that:

- (a) is doing business in Florida?
- (b) is registered to do business in Florida?

(c) has its principal place of business in Florida?641 So. 2d at 197.

At the request of Kinney, the district court stayed issuance of its mandate pending review by the Court.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### 1. <u>Continental's principal place of business</u>.

Continental is a New Hampshire corporation which maintains its principal place of business in New Jersey. (R. 1 at ¶ 1). Continental is an insurance company which provides workers' compensation and employer's liability insurance. (R. 79 at ¶ 3). Continental was authorized to conduct business and conducted business in Florida. (R. 1). Continental Loss Adjusting ("CLA") has a claims office in Broward County. (R. 79 at ¶ 4).

#### 2. <u>Kinney's principal place of business</u>.

Kinney is a Delaware corporation (R. 56 at  $\P$  2) which has its principal place of business and corporate headquarters in New York. (R. 56 at  $\P$  2). Kinney has an office and operated parking garages in Florida, where it does not maintain a principal place of business. (R. 53 at  $\P$  3).

#### 3. The insurance coverage agreement.

#### (a) The policies at issue.

Continental and Kinney entered into a workers' compensation and employer's liability insurance policy (the "compensation policy"), in 1987. (R. 46 at  $\P$  4). Continental sent invoices for insurance premiums to Kinney in New York and, in turn, Kinney

made payments from New York to Continental in New Jersey. (R. 57 at  $\P$  5). Kinney paid a standard premium to Continental of \$242,817 for workers' compensation insurance coverage in various states which included Florida. (R. 2 at  $\P$  4). The producing agent for the insurance policy, Alexander and Alexander, has its principal place of business in New York. (R. 57 at  $\P$  6).

The compensation policy covers Kinney offices and parking garages in eight states, across the geographic expanse of the nation from Connecticut to Texas. (R. 12). The precise sites are identified state-by-state in the policy. (R. 18-26). There are several riders in the policy noting differences in the workers' compensation laws of certain of the states covered, and modifying the policy on that basis. (R. 28-33). Pursuant to its contract with Kinney under the compensation policy, Continental paid on behalf of Kinney a total of \$171,953 on 41 workers' compensation claims in various states. (R. 80 at  $\P$  10).

Kinney and Continental also entered into a Retrospective and Excess Retrospective Rating Agreement ("Retro Agreement"). (R. 45-51). The Retro Agreement obliged Kinney to pay Continental retrospective premiums arising out of adjustments Continental made based upon the standard premium and incurred losses for the policy period. (R. 48-49).

#### (b) The contract dispute.

After expiration of the policy period, Kinney submitted claims to Continental for payment for losses that occurred during the policy period. (R. 2-3). Continental paid claims submitted

by Kinney and then made adjustments to the retrospective premiums purporting to account for Kinney's loss experience. (R. 3 at  $\P$  9).

Continental then demanded that Kinney pay an additional 339,151, (R. 3 at  $\P$  10), as a result of these retrospective premium adjustments (R. 78-79 at  $\P$  3). These claims included claims submitted by two Kinney employees who worked in Florida, which were adjusted in Ft. Lauderdale by Continental Loss Adjusting. (R. 79 at  $\P$  4).

Kinney disputed upward adjustments made by Continental in retrospective premiums due under the Retro Agreement and resulting adjustments to the premiums due. (R. 57 at  $\P$  7). Consequently, Kinney retained experts in New York, Coopers & Lybrand and the Lovel Group, to analyze Continental's performance under the Retro Agreement. These experts evaluated Continental's claim handling procedures and performance under the Retro Agreement. (R. 58 at  $\P$  9). They examined, in New York, documents that provided the alleged basis for Continental's claim for increased insurance premiums. (*Id*.)

Negotiations ensued between corporate officers and counsel for Kinney and Continental, in the New York metropolitan area. (R. 56-60, 61-62, 78-83). The two corporations were unable to resolve their dispute in New York. (*Id*).

#### 4. <u>Continental sues in Florida</u>.

Continental filed its lawsuit in Broward County, Florida. (R. 1-4). Continental's complaint did not allege a clear Florida

connection with the action. (Id.). Kinney acknowledged the availability of an alternative forum in New York (R. 54), and moved to dismiss for forum non conveniens (R. 52-55).

Affidavits for and against the motion were filed. (R. 56, 61, 78). A Kinney representative filed an affidavit reflecting its analysis of Continental's errors in calculating premiums, and that this analysis was performed in New York, using experts retained in New York, from documentation made available to Kinney in New York. (R. 57-58).

Kinney's regular outside counsel, located in New Jersey, filed an affidavit identifying forum shopping as the reason expressed to him by Continental's general counsel, for its filing suit in Florida. (R. 61-62). Continental's intention was to compel Kinney to incur additional costs of representation and travel, by filing the law suit in Florida. (*Id.*).

Continental denied this intention. (R. 119). Continental's affidavit on this point came from its vice-president and corporate counsel, who explained to Kinney "in no uncertain terms," in the course of settlement negotiations, that suit would not be brought in New York, but instead in one of the venues where the underlying workers' compensation claims were paid. (R. 119).

The trial court received these affidavits, heard argument (T. 1-30), and granted Kinney's motion (R. 122-23).

#### 5. The Fourth District's dilemma.

On appeal, the Fourth District reversed as it was mandated to do by its precedent. The panel opinion took the opportunity, however, to certify a question of great public importance which poses whether adherence to its past decisions correctly interpreted the Florida law of corporate forum non conveniens.

The district court expressly recognized that the alleged breach of contract accrued outside of Florida, and that the Third District would have reached the conclusion that neither corporation was a resident of Florida. The panel acknowledged the flexibility inherent in the Third District's position applying forum non conveniens to suits between corporations doing business in Florida, but not principally residing here.

The panel further recognized Florida's minority position in refusing to consider the doctrine when any party is a Florida resident.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A clash between multistate, foreign corporations, on a claim for breach of contract accruing outside of Florida, should not be compulsorily resolved in a Florida court because one or both of the parties are licensed in Florida and do some business in Florida. The decisions of the Fourth District, now inclusive of the panel's conclusion in *Kinney* driven by that district's precedent, are incompatible with precedent of the Court and all the other district courts of appeal that have considered the issue directly or indirectly.

Corporate residency in the context of forum non conveniens should be measured by principal place of business, not by merely engaging in business in Florida. The "doing business" criterion is a routine yardstick by which to measure due process minimum contacts concerns for *in personam* jurisdiction to bring suit, but it is an inappropriate guide for forum appropriateness.

The Court recognized as much two months after Houston v. Caldwell, 359 So. 2d 858 (Fla. 1978), was decided, when it referenced a corporation's "principal place of business [in] Florida" as the standard for amenability to suit against a forum challenge. Seaboard Coast Line R.R. v. Swain, 362 So. 2d 17, 18 (Fla. 1978). Swain occupies particularly persuasive space as a contemporaneous interpretation by the Court of its more prominent parallel precedent in Houston.

The Third District's equivalency of principal place of business or corporate headquarters with residency makes much more sense for forum analysis. National Rifle Ass'n of America v.

Linotype Co., 591 So. 2d 1021 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991). It provides sensible discretion to apply the doctrine when suits arising elsewhere are brought in Florida, a likely occurrence under present conditions when any sizeable corporation does some business in this state, now the fourth most populous in the country.

Neither Continental nor Kinney has its principal place of business in Florida, and this cause of action for breach of contract accrued outside of Florida. In this situation, amenability to suit in Florida should not be foreordained by a corporation's doing some business in Florida. Such immunity to forum non conveniens has the practical affect of collapsing the entire doctrine into the question of minimum contacts for suit, by blurring the difference when a multistate corporation is sued.

There is no Florida case law or statutory compulsion for such drastic smothering of this flexible common law remedy. An isolated decision of the Fourth District -- which the Kinney panel was obligated to follow -- has misinterpreted Houston and ignored Swain. See National Aircraft Service, Inc. v. New York Airlines, Inc., 489 So. 2d 38 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). It bears noting that all but one of the Third District's opinions with which conflict is evident and which express the wiser, more flexible application, were decided after the 1986 decision of the Fourth District on which the panel was compelled to rely. The one previous express analysis by the Third District came in a concurring opinion. Transportes Aeros Mercantiles v. Calderon, 480 So. 2d 125 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985) (Schwartz, Chief Judge,

concurring). The Fourth District's certification of this question of great public importance, without any effort to substantiate the validity of its past precedent, reflects the persuasive qualities of the Third District's analysis, which takes contemporary conditions of corporate multistate activities into account.

The persuasive decisions from other jurisdictions are settled, as well, that principal place of business determines corporate residency when forum non conveniens is applied. The vast majority of state courts, however, apply residency as no more than one of several factors in the analysis. Houston v. Caldwell has placed Florida distinctively in the minority in making residency determinative. As a result, if forum non conveniens is to retain any future vitality in Florida, the Houston decision makes it all the more imperative that corporate residency not be equated with merely conducting business in the state.<sup>1/</sup>

The Court need not recede from that precedent regarding the residency of individuals, in order to answer the certified question. Corporate residency should be measured by principal place of business, not by doing business or registration in

A number of amici will recommend that the Court recede from its opinion in Houston v. Caldwell, 359 So. 2d 858 (Fla. 1978). Kinney joins in the assessment that residency of the parties should be a factor considered in the forum non conveniens formula, not a point of preclusion for its application to Florida residents. Nonetheless, the Court need not address that issue to resolve the certified question posed, as it pertains to the nonresident status of two foreign corporations.

Florida. Once that principle of law is applied, it is beyond cavil that this case involves two nonresident corporations.

In this case, the evidence demonstrated that the discretionary determination by the circuit court to dismiss the action rested on the inappropriateness of this forum to the majority of witnesses and to Kinney. The contracts at issue were executed outside of Florida, and payment under the contracts was due outside of Florida. Hence, the claim arose outside of Florida and can most conveniently be pursued in another For a host of reasons, forum non conveniens jurisdiction. was the prudently drawn discretionary determination of the circuit court. Chief among factors was the pivotal fact that this case arose out of a billing dispute over additional premiums said to be owed based on the provisions of an insurance policy negotiated and executed in the northeast. The two corporate parties are principally headquartered in the New York metropolitan area, where their executive decisions are made and implemented. Florida is not the appropriate forum in which to litigate this dispute.

The case should be remanded to the district court with directions to vacate its decision and affirm dismissal of the action.

#### ARGUMENT

THIS ACTION BY ONE NONRESIDENT CORPORATION AGAINST ANOTHER NONRESIDENT CORPORATION WAS PROPERLY DISMISSED UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF FORUM NON CONVENIENS.

# 1. Florida law compels the conclusion that a corporation's principal place of business is the measure of its residency.

The certified question posed by the Fourth District requests that the Court address the manner in which residency of corporations should be defined for *forum non conveniens* purposes. Today's doctrinal analysis, which applies the residency of a party as a bar to dismissal on *forum non conveniens* in Florida, makes this the core and critical inquiry, and surely a question of great public importance for the Court, because in-state residency is a condition precedent to application of the doctrine, not a mere consideration in the calculus. *Houston v. Caldwell*, 359 So. 2d 858 (Fla. 1978).

### (a) The Third District's reasoning should prevail.

A rift has developed between decisions of the Fourth District and those of the Third District in particular, on the pivotal application of the residency factor to corporations. The Third District has reasoned that corporate residency should be equated with a corporation's principal place of business, or headquarters. See National Rifle Association of America v. Linotype Co., 591 So. 2d 1021 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991); Moliver v. Avianca, Inc., 580 So. 2d 787 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991); Piper Aircraft Corp. v. Schwendemann, 578 So. 2d 319 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991); Transportes Aeros Mercantiles v. Calderon, 480 So. 2d 125 (Fla.

3d DCA 1985) (Schwartz, Chief Judge, concurring); Southern Railway v. McCubbins, 196 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 3d DCA 1967).

The most lucid discussion in this line of decisions is within *Linotype*, which adopted the reasoning of the concurring opinion in *Calderon*. The Third District questioned whether a foreign corporation doing business in Florida, but not headquartered, or principally here, should be ensnared by the residency rule of *Houston v. Caldwell*. *Linotype*, 591 So. 2d at 1022. The court concluded that the two concepts could not be equated, lest potential plaintiffs be encouraged to sue in Florida for no reason other than the availability of the forum against any corporation transacting business in Florida.

The prospects were virtually self-evident, in the Third District's view, that Florida would become a haven for suit on causes of action accruing elsewhere, simply because the corporate defendant was doing business in Florida. The Third District's concern was both pragmatic and real. Florida's forum law as it stands today makes the filing of transitory actions more rather than less likely here than in many other state jurisdictions, and assuredly more likely than in a federal forum.

Stare decisis of the Fourth District impelled the Kinney panel to certification, not the logic of the previous decisions of that court from which it could not disentangle. Two decisions of that court are involved, one misapplied Houston, while the other did not involve corporate residency. National Aircraft Service, Inc. v. New York Airlines, Inc., 489 So. 2d 38 (Fla. 4th

DCA 1986); Waite v. Summit Leasing & Capital International Corp., 441 So. 2d 185 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983).

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