FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 84,329

FEB 14 1995 destek CLERK

KINNEY SYSTEM, INC.,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE CONTINENTAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent.

ON CERTIFICATION OF A QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE BY THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ADORNO & ZEDER, P.A.

Raoul G. Cantero, III Jared Gelles 2601 South Bayshore Drive Suite 1600 Miami, Florida 33133 (305) 858-5555

Attorneys for Respondent

February 13, 1995

<u>a</u> 10 💌

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

² Similarly, insurance companies must obtain certificates of authority and have authorized and licensed insurance agents in the state. §§ 624.401, 624.425, Fla. Stat. (1993).

³ This provision was substantially the same when *Houston* was decided. See § 607.307, Fla. Stat. (1977).

greater, rights and privileges as a domestic corporation." Tex. Bus. Corp. Act Art. 8.02(A) (Vernon Supp. 1993). Relying on this provision and cases construing it, the court held that "the Texas Legislature has abolished the doctrine of *forum non conveniens* in cases involving foreign corporations which have permits to conduct business in Texas." 21 Intern. Holdings, Inc. v. Westinghouse

Electric Corp., 856 S.W.2d 479, 484 (Tex. Ct. App. 1993).4

This Court should reach the same conclusion. Florida courts already recognize that section 607.1505(2) prohibits treating authorized foreign corporations any differently from domestic ones. See Hollander v. Rosen, 555 So. 2d 384, 385 (Fla. 3d DCA) (imposing statutory penalty for wrongful refusal to allow inspection of the corporation's business records against a Georgia corporation authorized to do business in Florida, applying predecessor provision of § 607.1505(2)), review denied, 564 So. 2d 488 (Fla. 1990). Accord Padovano v. Wotitzky, 355 So. 2d 871 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978).

Applying the Doctrine to authorized foreign corporations would violate section 607.1505(2) by denying authorized foreign corporations like Continental their choice of venue in actions against nonresidents, while preserving that privilege for domestic corporations. Such differential treatment is precisely what

⁴ The court also noted a statute authorized corporations to "sue and be sued, complain and defend, in its corporate name." Tex. Bus. Corp. Act Art. 2.02(A)(2) (Vernon Supp. 1993). *Id.* at 482. Florida grants these same powers. *See* § 607.0302, Fla. Stat. (1993).

section 607.1505(2) prohibits. On the other hand, a rule defining a resident as including authorized foreign corporations is easy to apply and entails little or no satellite litigation.

2) Other Florida statutes treat an authorized foreign corporation the same as a domestic corporation

Consistent with section 607.1505(2), several Florida Statutes treat an authorized foreign corporation the same as a domestic corporation. Chief among these is the venue statute, which provides that a foreign corporation "resides" where it has an office and a resident agent. Because authorized foreign corporations are required to have an office and an agent in this state, they will always reside wherever such an office is located.

In defining a resident for forum non conveniens purposes, Houston relied on the distinction in Florida's venue statutes between a resident and a nonresident. The logic of this reliance is impeccable, and recently confirmed by the United States Supreme Court, which declared that "the doctrine of forum non conveniens is nothing more or less than a supervening venue provision." American Dredging Co. v. Miller, _____ U.S. ___, 114 S. Ct. 981, 988 (1994). The Houston rule ensures that Florida's common law "supervening venue provision" comports with its venue statute.

Florida's venue statute governing "actions against corporations" applies to Florida residents, including authorized foreign corporations. It provides that:

Case No. 84,329

Kinney System, Inc. v. Continental Ins. Co.

Actions against domestic corporations shall be brought only in the county where such corporation has, or usually keeps, an office for transaction of its customary business, where the cause of action accrued, or where the property in litigation is located. Actions against foreign corporations doing business in this state shall be brought in a county where such corporation has an agent or other representative, where the cause of action accrued, or where the property in litigation is located.

§ 47.051, Fla. Stat. (1993) (emphasis added). The emphasized language is analogous to the general venue statute: "Actions shall be brought only in the county where the defendant resides, where the cause of action accrued, or where the property in litigation is located. This section shall not apply to actions against nonresidents." § 47.011, Fla. Stat. (1993) (emphasis added).

Florida courts have regularly applied this provision to authorized foreign corporations. As this Court has held, an authorized foreign corporation is a resident within the venue statutes where it has an agent and conducts business. *Enfinger v. Baxley*, 96 So. 2d 538, 540 (Fla. 1957) (authorized foreign corporation resides where it has an agent or other representative, quoting predecessor to § 47.051). *See also Sinclair Fund, Inc. v. Burton*, 623 So. 2d 587, 588 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) (for venue purposes, when a foreign corporation has an office in Florida, it resides in the county where the office is located); *Methodist Hosp. Foundation*, *Inc. v. Irvin*, 403 So. 2d 496, 498 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981) (same).

On the other hand, section 47.051 does not apply to unauthorized foreign corporations doing business in Florida, which

are treated as nonresidents and must defend an action anywhere jurisdiction is obtained. United Engines, Inc. v. Citmoco Services, Inc., 418 So. 2d 409, 410 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982). Accord Puerto v. Mid-Gulf Services, Inc., 519 So. 2d 689 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988).

Other Florida Statutes also treat authorized foreign coporations as residents. For example, authorized foreign corporations share the same procedures for service of process as domestic ones. See § 48.081, Fla. Stat. (1993). They are also considered residents when determining whether the statute of limitations is tolled, Roess v. Malsby Co., 69 Fla. 15, 67 So. 226, 227 (Fla. 1915); and for purposes of section 76.04, Florida Statutes (1989), concerning attachment of assets. Hordis Bros., Inc. v. Sentinel Holdings, Inc., 562 So. 2d 715, 717 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990).

The Court of Appeal's opinion, and the cases on which it relied, reflect this statutory policy equating authorized foreign corporations with domestic ones. The Fourth District previously held, for example, that a suit by an authorized foreign corporation against another authorized foreign corporation cannot be dismissed on the basis of *forum non conveniens*. When venue statutes are satisfied, "foreign corporations licensed to do business in Florida, with a place of business in Florida cannot be prevented from pursuing a cause of action in Florida based upon the doctrine of *forum non conveniens*." Nat'l Aircraft Service, Inc. v. New York Airlines, Inc., 489 So. 2d 38, 39 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). See also Sempe v. Coordinated Caribbean Transport, Inc., 363 So. 2d 194

15

ADORNO & ZEDER, P.A.

2601 SOUTH BAYSHORE DRIVE + SUITE 1600 + MIAMI, FLORIDA 33133 + TELEPHONE (305) 858-5555 + TELEFAX 858-4777

(Fla. 3d DCA 1978), cert. denied, 372 So. 2d 467 (Fla. 1979) (refusing to apply Doctrine where several defendants had offices in Florida); Sibaja v. Dow Chemical Co., 757 F.2d 1215, 1217, 1219 (11th Cir.) (recognizing that under Houston, suit by foreign individuals against an authorized foreign corporation could not be dismissed), cert. denied, 474 U.S. 948, 106 S.Ct. 347, 88 L.Ed.2d 294 (1985); Waite v. Summit Leasing & Capital Int'l Corp., 441 So. 2d 185, 185 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) (partnership with an office in Florida and a partner living in Florida considered a resident).⁵

As demonstrated above, Florida law requires authorized foreign corporations to maintain offices and resident agents in the state. Therefore, the Florida Statutes consistently consider such corporations residents for their respective purposes.

B. Considering an authorized foreign corporation a Florida resident under Houston reflects the modern trend toward multi-state commerce

As one commentator has said, "[t]he reality of modern economic life is that multi-nationals have multiple 'homes'." Reynolds, The Proper Forum for a Suit: Transnational Forum Non

⁵ Kinney's assertions (brief at 9, 17, 19) that Nat'l Aircraft is "aberrant" are false. Only two districts have considered this issue. The only conflicting case is Nat'l Rifle Assoc. v. Linotype Co., 591 So. 2d 1021 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991), which itself conflicts with another case in that district. See Sempe, 363 So. 2d at 194. The other cases Kinney cites held that a corporation with a principal place of business here is a resident, but did not address whether foreign corporations without principal places of business here could be considered residents. See Seaboard Coastline R. v. Swain, 362 So. 2d 17, 18 (Fla. 1978); Adams v. Seaboard Coastline R.R., 224 So. 2d 797, 801 (Fla. 1st DCA 1969).

Conveniens and Countersuit in the Federal Courts, 70 Tex. L. Rev. 1663, 1695 (1992). As the United States Supreme Court has recognized, a concomitant of this expanding commerce is that "modern transportation and communication have made it much less burdensome for a party sued to defend himself in a State where he engages in economic activity." *McGee v. Int'l Life Ins. Co.*, 355 U.S. 220, 223, 78 S.Ct. 199, 201, 2 L.Ed.2d 223 (1957).

Because of this trend, an authorized foreign corporation's "principal place of business" should not be dispositive. In today's business world, corporations routinely conduct operations in many states and in many countries. Even an amicus curiae supporting the Petitioner recognizes that "the realities of modern commerce dictate that this Court no longer consider a corporation's principal place of business as a determinative factor in its forum non conveniens analysis" (Florida Chamber at 17). The fact that a corporation's principal place of business is elsewhere does not bear on the significance or extent of its presence in Florida. As the Third District recognized in holding that a foreign corporation that does business in Florida is a "resident" within the meaning of the attachment statute, "[t]he fact that [plaintiff] is incorporated in Pennsylvania, and has its principal place of business outside of Florida, is of no moment; the inquiry here is one of presence in this jurisdiction." Hordis Bros., 562 So. 2d at 717.

At least one other court has recognized that "[a] corporation may be created under the laws of one state, have its head-

quarters in another state, and do its primary business in yet one or more other states." Anglim v. Missouri Pac. R.R., 832 S.W. 2d 298, 304 (Mo.), cert. denied, ____ U.S. ___, 113 S.Ct. 831, 121 L.Ed.2d 701 (1992). In Anglim, the Missouri Supreme Court affirmed a trial court's refusal to dismiss a case where the defendant corporation, although headquartered in Nebraska, had offices, employees, a registered agent, tracks, and maintenance facilities in Missouri. Anglim is consistent with the proposition that an authorized foreign corporation, which by definition must maintain an office and resident agent in the state, is a resident.

This trend toward multi-state corporate offices also complicates determining a corporations "principal" place of business. In some cases it may be the state of incorporation, in other cases the corporation's headquarters, and in some cases it may be a third state, where the corporation is not headquartered but conducts most of its business. In contrast to the possible complexities of undertaking such an analysis, which may entail presentation of evidence and testimony, determining whether a corporation is incorporated in Florida or authorized to do business here is refreshingly simple.

C. A holding that an authorized foreign corporation is a resident under *Houston* would not abrogate the <u>Doctrine</u>

Kinney argues that statutes designed to change the common law must be clearly expressed, and therefore Florida's corporate statutes should not be interpreted as abrogating the Doctrine

Case No. 84,329

(brief at 25). The statutes adopting registration requirements for foreign corporations, however, existed 19 years before Florida recognized the Doctrine in 1936. See Chapter 5717, Acts of 1907; Hagen v. Viney, 124 Fla. 747, 169 So. 391 (1936). Therefore, these statutes confine and circumcribe the Doctrine's application.

In fact, the Doctrine itself constitutes a derogation of the ancient common law rule that a judge must exercise jurisdiction in every case in which he is seized of it, which explains the historical hesitation to apply the Doctrine. See Gibb, The International Law of Jurisdiction In England And Scotland, 220 (1926). That common law rule is enshrined in Florida's Constitution. Art. I, § 21, Fla. Const. (1968) (see Section II.C., infra). In adopting a limited version of the Doctrine, this Court in Hagen respected this rule, stating that "access to the court's process should be easily available." Hagen, 169 So. at 395.

Kinney also argues that the *Houston* rule, as applied by the Fourth District, "comes very close to extinguishing" the Doctrine because the Doctrine would essentially be subsumed into personal jurisdiction analysis (brief at 26).⁶ Continental's proposed definition of resident, which includes only authorized foreign corporations, comes nowhere near abolishing the Doctrine. It allows application of the Doctrine when corporations not autho-

⁶ As more fully discussed below (Section II.B.2, *infra*), several commentators have argued for exactly that. See Stewart, Forum Non Conveniens: A Doctrine in Search of a Role, 74 Cal. L. Rev. 1259, 1324 (1986); Comment, The Continued Use of Forum Non Conveniens: Is it Justified?, 58 J. Air L. & Com. 845 (1993).

rized to conduct business in Florida are involved. The Florida Business Corporation Act identifies a litany of business activities that do not constitute "transacting business" in Florida requiring authority from the state. § 607.1501(2), Fla. Stat. (1993). These include maintaining bank accounts, selling through independent contractors, soliciting or obtaining orders, creating or acquiring indebtedness, transacting business in interstate commerce, conducting an isolated transaction, and owning real or personal property. The statute's itemized list is not exhaustive. § 607.1501(3), Fla. Stat. (1993). Therefore, a vast number of foreign corporations can still invoke the Doctrine. Only those who obtain a certificate of authority, and therefore acquire all the privileges of a Florida corporation, are obligated to defend suits here.

The Doctrine also remains applicable in a vast area in which long-arm jurisdiction may be asserted under section 48.193, Florida Statutes (1993). This includes committing a tortious act in Florida, contracting for insurance here, causing injury to persons or property here, and breaching a contract by failing to perform a required act here. Defining a resident as including an authorized foreign corporation does not abrogate the Doctrine; it merely recognizes the Florida policy treating such corporations the same as domestic ones.

II. IF THIS COURT RECONSIDERS HOUSTON, IT SHOULD REAFFIRM IT

Kinney does not argue that *Houston* should be overruled; only certain *amici* raise this issue. Therefore, the issue is not

20

2601 SOUTH BAYSHORE DRIVE . SUITE 1600 . MIAMI, FLORIDA 33133 . TELEPHONE (305) 858-5555 . TELEFAX 858-4777

properly before this Court. Should this Court decide to consider it, however, it should re-affirm *Houston*. That case reflects a moderate approach to the Doctrine, applied by several other states, which represents a reasonable balance between unbridled application of the Doctrine and its total exclusion. This approach provides certainty and avoids the expensive satellite litigation that *forum non conveniens* analysis entails. Moreover, Florida's Constitution prohibits the unrestricted application of the Doctrine. Finally, Florida's limitations on the Doctrine do not overburden courts or discourage businesses from locating here.

A. The issue of whether Houston should be overruled is not properly before this Court

The district court's opinion assumes Houston's continued vitality. Nowhere does the opinion even hint that Houston should be overruled, or that it was wrongly decided. Similarly, Kinney defers to its amici the argument whether Houston should be overruled (Kinney brief at 20 n.6). Only they raise this issue. They have no standing, however, to inject new issues. See Higbee v. Housing Authority of Jacksonville, 143 Fla. 560, 197 So. 479, 485 (1940); Acton v. Ft. Lauderdale Hospital, 418 So. 2d 1099, 1101 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), approved, 440 So. 2d 1282 (Fla. 1983). The issue of whether Houston should be overruled, therefore, is not properly before the Court, and this Court should refuse to consider it. In an abundance of caution, however, Continental demonstrates below why Houston remains as wise today as it was 17 years ago, and

why this Court, if it considers the issue, should reaffirm Houston.

B. Houston represents a reasonable balance between unbridled application of the Doctrine and its total exclusion

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